UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-18-2015

Ciccone v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43075

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Appellant Albert Ciccone appeals the denial of post-conviction relief following an evidentiary hearing. This Court should reverse the order denying relief because Mr. Ciccone established that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to submit Dr. Craig Beaver's opinion for sentencing. Specifically, Mr. Ciccone established deficient performance because counsel based the decision to not submit the evaluation results on the basis of mistakes of fact and law. And, Mr. Ciccone met the prejudice prong by establishing a reasonable probability that had the sentencing court been aware of Dr. Beaver's opinion it would have imposed less than a fixed life sentence.

B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

In 2003, Mr. Ciccone hit his pregnant wife with his car. Both she and the fetus died. He was charged with two counts of first degree murder and convicted of first degree murder for the death of his wife and second degree murder for the death of the fetus. The district court imposed fixed life for first degree murder and 15 years fixed for the second degree murder to run concurrently. Mr. Ciccone appealed. After the case was briefed and argued, the Supreme Court dismissed on the basis of timeliness. Thereafter, pursuant to a stipulation and order entered in post-conviction proceedings, the district court vacated its original judgment and conviction and reentered it as of April 19, 2011. *State v. Ciccone*, 154 Idaho 330, 334, 297 P.3d 1147, 1151 (Ct. App. 2012), citing *State v. Ciccone*, 150 Idaho 305, 246 P.3d 958 (2010).

The stipulation and order resolving the post-conviction proceedings provided that the district court should vacate and reenter judgment and further that the order would have no effect

on any other basis Mr. Ciccone might have for post-conviction relief at a later time including claims besides the ineffective assistance of counsel in not timely filing the notice of conviction raised in the initial petition. R 12-16.

Mr. Ciccone filed a timely notice of appeal from his conviction and sentence raising issues of speedy trial violation, prosecutorial misconduct in comments on his decision to not testify and evocation of sympathy for the victim, and imposition of an excessive sentence. The Court of Appeals denied relief. *State v. Ciccone*, 154 Idaho 330, 297 P.3d 1147 (Ct. App. 2012).

Mr. Ciccone then filed a timely "Verified Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief." Mr. Ciccone raised claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel. R 17-31.

Counsel was appointed and the case proceeded to an evidentiary hearing. R 30.

At the hearing, while not waiving any of the claims raised in the *pro se* petition, counsel focused on two instances of trial counsel's ineffective assistance: failure to move for a mistrial after a juror performed an independent investigation and shared extra-judicial information with the jury during deliberations; and in failing to present to the Court Dr. Craig Beaver's evaluation undertaken in preparation for sentencing. R 120-132.

The District Court denied relief. R 160-180. The Court entered a final judgment, R 181, and this appeal timely follows. R 183-186.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Did the District Court err in denying relief given that Mr. Ciccone established that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present Dr. Beaver's evaluation to the Court for sentencing purposes?

2

IV. ARGUMENT

<u>The District Court Erred In Denying Relief Because Counsel Determined Not to Submit Dr.</u> <u>Beaver's Evaluation Based Upon Mistakes of Fact and Law and Because Mr. Ciccone</u> Established a Reasonable Probability of a Different Outcome Absent the Deficient Performance.

A. <u>Standard of Review</u>

In order to prevail in a post-conviction proceeding, the applicant must prove the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. When reviewing a decision denying post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing, an appellate court will not disturb the lower court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. The credibility of the witnesses, the weight to be given to their testimony, and the inferences to be drawn from the evidence are all matters within the province of the district court. We exercise free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts.

Bradley v. State, 151 Idaho 629, 631, 262 P.3d 272, 274 (Ct. App. 2011) (citations omitted).

B. Evidence Relevant to Issue

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Ciccone testified that trial counsel had him tested by Dr.

Beaver's office. Counsel told Mr. Ciccone that he wanted the testing done because his family

and personal mental health history could be used as mitigation at sentencing. Tr. 12/12/14 p. 23,

ln. 21-p. 26, ln. 19.

Trial counsel testified that he had Dr. Beaver conduct a neuropsychological evaluation of

Mr. Ciccone after the conviction, prior to sentencing. Tr. 12/12/14 p. 55, ln. 1-7. Counsel,

however, did not obtain a written report, only a verbal report. Tr. 12/12/14 p. 57, ln. 18-25.

After hearing the verbal report, counsel instructed Dr. Beaver not to prepare a written report. Tr.

12/12/14 p. 59, ln. 17-20.

Trial counsel testified that a written report would not have been in Mr. Ciccone's best interests. Tr. 12/12/14 p. 59, ln. 23-25. Counsel reached this decision because although Mr.

Ciccone did suffer from major depression, Dr. Beaver had also diagnosed borderline personality disorder. Trial counsel's first wife had borderline personality disorder so counsel concluded that Dr. Beaver meant that Mr. Ciccone was like counsel's ex-wife and was "controlling and abusive." Counsel further testified that Dr. Beaver indicated that Mr. Ciccone was in deep denial of culpability. Counsel testified that he asked Dr. Beaver if Mr. Ciccone would kill again and Dr. Beaver said that he did not know but that "by the time they get to their 40s, they're usually more mature and less violent." Counsel testified that he did not want the Court to have this information. Tr. 12/12/14, p. 63, ln. 6-p. 64, ln. 10. However, counsel also acknowledged that in his 29 years as an attorney he had never ever had a psychological evaluation conducted wherein the evaluator could say that the defendant would never kill again. In making this observation, counsel noted that if he had obtained a written report he would not have asked Dr. Beaver to include an opinion about whether Mr. Ciccone would kill again because of the doors it would open. Tr. 12/12/14 p. 76, ln. 18-p. 77, ln. 15.

Dr. Beaver did not testify at the evidentiary hearing, but his affidavit was an exhibit. In the affidavit, Dr. Beaver averred that had he prepared a written report, he would have included the following:

a. Mr. Ciccone's MMPI testing results showed a markedly elevated profile indicating significant emotional and/or psychiatric issues;

b. Mr. Ciccone's psychiatric history revealed significant mood instability;

c. Mr. Ciccone's family history revealed a significant history of bipolar disorders;

d. There was a significant mental-health component related to the events surrounding the death of Mr. Ciccone's wife and unborn child.

Petitioner's Ex. B, Affidavit of Craig W. Beaver, PhD, p. 2.

Dr. Beaver also averred:

11. Based on my conclusions above, a report to the Court, had one been created, would have assisted the Court in determining Mr. Ciccone's sentence and, in fact, may very well have led the Court to a sentence other than fixed-life.

12. Because my evaluation of Mr. Ciccone reveals his psychiatric issues resulted in him having a limited appreciation for the ultimate consequences of his actions, had I been consulted and performed my testing prior to trial and testified at trial, the jury would have been provided evidence which very well could have led it to find Mr. Ciccone guilty of a crime less than first degree murder.

Id., p. 3.

Counsel further testified that had he obtained a written report, the state could have moved for its own evaluation by Dr. Estess, whom trial counsel referred to as "Dr. Death." Tr. 12/12/14, p. 64, ln. 23-p. 66, ln. 9.

C. Argument

Trial counsel was deficient because he based the decision to not submit a report from Dr. Beaver based upon both factual and legal errors. And the deficiency was prejudicial because there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficiency the outcome of the proceedings would have been different. Thus, relief was warranted. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

Counsel is deficient when he or she fails to investigate and present evidence. This includes evidence of the defendant's mental health status that might go toward mitigation. *Knutsen v. State,* 144 Idaho 433, 443, 163 P.3d 222, 232 (Ct. App. 2007). *See also, Vick v. State,* 131 Idaho 121, 126, 952 P.2d 1257, 1262 (Ct. App. 1998), finding error in summary dismissal of Ms. Vick's petition where she raised a material issue of fact as to whether she received ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing because her attorney did not request or provide a

report satisfying the requirements of I.C. § 19-2522, did not object to the imposition of sentence without the benefit of such a report, and did not submit other readily available psychological information that provided a more favorable assessment and prognosis.

Counsel is also deficient when he or she acts on the basis of mistakes of fact or law. As demonstrated by *McKay v. State*, 148 Idaho 567, 225 P.3d 700 (2009), tactical decisions based upon inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law or other shortcomings capable of objective relief are deficient performance. 148 Idaho at 530, 225 P.3d at 703.

In this case, counsel decided not to obtain a written report from Dr. Beaver because he did not want the diagnosis of borderline personality disorder revealed to the court, he believed that borderline personality disorder meant that Mr. Ciccone was controlling and abusive, he was concerned that Dr. Beaver did not report that Mr. Ciccone would never kill again, and finally, he was concerned that if he submitted a report, the state would ask for Dr. Estess to prepare a report which would be less favorable. This analysis was deficient because it was based upon mistakes of fact and law.

The mistake of fact was that a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder meant that Mr. Ciccone is controlling and abusive. Counsel used the example of his ex-wife to make the determination of what the diagnosis meant for Mr. Ciccone. However, counsel did not have an expert opinion for this and in fact readily available information is contrary to counsel's conclusion. Respondent's Exhibit 13 which includes counsel's research on borderline personality disorder does not reference controlling and abusive behavior, nor does the National

6

Institute of Mental Health's webpage discussing the disorder.¹ Instead, the website notes that "People with this disorder also have high rates of co-occurring disorders, such as depression, anxiety disorders, substance abuse, and eating disorders, along with self-harm, suicidal behaviors, and completed suicides." This is consistent with Dr. Beaver's finding of major depression. The NIMH goes on to note that "recent research shows that BPD can be treated effectively, and that many people with this illness improve over time." The former observation is a factor against the imposition of a fixed life sentence and the latter observation is consistent with Dr. Beaver's observation that people by the time they are in their 40s are usually more mature and less violent. Finally, the NIMH notes that Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) "can help people with BPD identify and change core beliefs and/or behaviors that underlie inaccurate perceptions of themselves and others and problems interacting with others." This type of therapy is available in four of the Idaho Department of Corrections treatment "Pathways" for offenders.² Thus, trial counsel was mistaken in his understanding of BPD and how that diagnosis might affect the sentencing decision.

The first mistake of law was that any written report would even have to include a diagnosis. Idaho Code § 19-2522(3)(b) which controls the content of written reports requires: "A diagnosis, evaluation or prognosis of the mental condition of the defendant." A compliant written report could include any one of those three items and be satisfactory. Dr. Beaver could have produced a report consistent with his affidavit in post-conviction which would have included an

¹ http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/topics/borderline-personality-disorder/index.shtml# part_145386

² https://www.idoc.idaho.gov/content/document/treatment_pathways_by_site

evaluation of Mr. Ciccone's mental health situation and his prognosis without including the term "borderline personality disorder" had counsel determined that the term was excessively prejudicial and did not fully explain Mr. Ciccone's mental health and its impact on his behavior surrounding the deaths of his wife and child.

And, the second mistake of law was that any presentation of a written report would result in the District Court authorizing a second evaluation from Dr. Estes. The defense request for an evaluation was made pursuant to I.C. § 19-2522 which does allow the appointment of more than one psychiatrist or licensed psychologist. I.C. § 19-2522(1). However, the decision to authorize an evaluation lies within the discretion of the court. ICR 32(d); *State v. Adams*, 137 Idaho 275, 276, 47 P.3d 778, 779 (Ct. 2002). And, there is no statutory provision allowing a second evaluation simply because the state wishes to dispute the original court appointed expert's conclusions. Even assuming trial counsel's worse fears regarding the appointment of "Dr. Death" came true, Mr. Ciccone could not have been made to participate in that evaluation. He simply could have refused to speak to Dr. Estess and the doctor would not have been able to conduct a second evaluation. See, *Estrada v. State*, 143 Idaho 558, 564, 149 P.3d 833, 839 (2006)(finding Fifth Amendment right to refuse to participate in psychosexual evaluation).

While strategic decisions based on a knowledge of the facts and law are not a basis for a finding of deficient performance, when as here, counsel's decision was based upon mistakes of fact and law, deficient performance has been established. *McKay v. State, supra; Booth v. State,* 151 Idaho 612, 618, 262 P.3d 255, 261 (2011).

Moreover, the deficiency was prejudicial. Mr. Ciccone presented Dr. Beaver's affidavit which stated that there was a significant mental health component related to the offenses. It is

reasonably probable that had the Court been aware that Mr. Ciccone's actions were influenced by mental health factors, the Court would have imposed a sentence less than fixed life – specifically a sentence that would have allowed a possibility of parole if at some point in the future Mr. Ciccone's mental health status improved so that he was not a danger to society. As stated by the Idaho Supreme Court:

A fixed or determinate sentence is a serious penalty, and should not be imposed lightly . . .

a fixed sentence should not be regarded as a judicial hedge against uncertainty. To the contrary, a fixed life term, with its rigid preclusion of parole or good time, should be regarded as a sentence requiring a high degree of certainty – certainty that the nature of the crime demands incarceration until the perpetrator dies in prison, or certainty that the perpetrator never, at any time in his life, could be safely released.

State v. Jackson, 130 Idaho 293, 294-95, 939 P.2d 1372, 1373-74 (1997), quoting State v.

Eubank, 114 Idaho 635, 638, 759 P.2d 926, 929 (Ct. App. 1988).

Had the District Court been aware of the fact that Mr. Ciccone's actions were influenced to a significant degree by his mental health, it is reasonably probable that the Court in accord with *Jackson, supra,* and *Eubank, supra,* would have imposed a sentence that would have allowed for parole at some time in the future rather than a sentence that requires that Mr. Ciccone die in prison.

For these reasons, the District Court erred in denying post-conviction relief.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based on the above as well as all the claims in his petition and all evidence presented in support of those claims, Mr. Ciccone asks that the order denying post-conviction relief be

reversed and the case remanded with instructions to grant relief.