Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-11-2015

Ciccone v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43075

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

Judge, an evaluation was conducted. But after due consideration and conference with the evaluator and my client, it was elected not to have the report prepared for sentencing.

The order does not require us to prepare a report or to bring forth the evaluator for purposes of testimony. Essentially that order was for purposes of securing the evaluation at county expense, but I was not required, under Rule 702 or otherwise, to disclose the

contents or the findings of that evaluation, and no written report has been prepared.

(Id.) The trial court noted for the record the defense's choice "not to make use of the evaluation" (Respondent's Exhibit 4 (Sentencing Tr., p.1881, L.19 – p.1882, L.1)), and it ultimately sentenced Ciccone after considering all of the information provided to it, which included both general information about Ciccone's personal and family mental health history and medical records documenting the state of Ciccone's mental health very near the time he committed the murders (Respondent's Exhibit 4 (Sentencing Tr., p.1944, L.19 – p.1945, L.9); see also Respondent's Exhibits 2 (victim impact letters), 3 (character letters), 14 (military records), 15 (records of inpatient treatment at Intermountain Hospital)).

In his post-conviction petition, Ciccone alleged trial counsel was ineffective for not obtaining a written report of the psychological evaluation conducted by Dr. Beaver and submitting that report as mitigation evidence at sentencing. (R., pp.23-26.) The district court dismissed this claim after an evidentiary hearing, finding Ciccone failed to carry his burden of proving trial counsel's decision to not obtain and present a written report of Dr. Beaver's psychological evaluation was the result of any objective shortcoming or that Ciccone was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency. (R., pp.175-79.) Contrary to Ciccone's assertions on appeal, a review of the applicable law and the record supports the district court's ruling.

Under Idaho law, a district court must appoint a psychiatrist or psychologist to examine and report on the defendant's mental condition "[i]f there is reason to believe the mental condition of the defendant will be a significant

factor at sentencing and for good cause shown." I.C. § 19-2522(1). However, "the decision of trial counsel whether to investigate or present mitigating evidence [in the form of a psychological evaluation] is assessed for reasonableness, giving deference to counsel's judgment." Richman v. State, 138 Idaho 190, 193, 59 P.3d 995, 998 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing Wallace v. Ward, 191 F.3d 1235, 1247 (10th Cir. 1999)). To establish prejudice, a petitioner claiming ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's failure to obtain a psychological examination for use at sentencing must establish that, but for the alleged failure, his sentence would have been different. Richman, 138 Idaho at 194, 59 P.3d at 99.

In this case, it is undisputed that trial counsel sought and obtained an order appointing Dr. Beaver to evaluate Ciccone's mental condition. Ciccone testified at the evidentiary hearing that trial counsel indicated a belief that a psychological evaluation might be useful as mitigating evidence at sentencing in light of Ciccone's "mental health history," which included a failed suicide attempt and inpatient treatment at Intermountain Hospital "in September into October of 2003, 11 days prior to [Ciccone's] incarceration" in the underlying criminal case. (Tr., p.23, L.14 – p.24, L.13.) Ciccone testified that, after Dr. Beaver conducted the evaluation, he and his trial counsel had a conversation in which trial counsel advised Ciccone that the "evaluation didn't go well" and that it would not be in Ciccone's best interest to obtain a written report of that evaluation. (Tr., p.24, Ls.14-19, p.29, Ls.13-24.) According to Ciccone, counsel did not elaborate regarding "the problem" a written evaluation would pose; "[h]e just said he felt it

would be unfavorable" and that "he wasn't going to do an official report because, once an official report was made, then the Court would have access to it whether he wanted them to or not." (Tr., p.24, L.20 – p.25, L.16.) Ciccone testified that, at the time, he trusted his trial counsel and believed "he was acting in [Ciccone's] best faith." (Tr., p.25, Ls.6-8, p.30, Ls.2-5.)

Aside from his own testimony, the only other evidence Ciccone presented in relation to this claim was the affidavit of Dr. Craig Beaver. (See Plaintiff's Exhibit B.) Dr. Beaver recalled that he and his staff conducted the testing and interviews necessary to create a written evaluation of Ciccone's mental condition but noted that "[n]o formal final written evaluation was created." (Id., ¶¶ 3-7.) Dr. Beaver had "no independent recollection of the reasons underlying the decision to not create a formal evaluation" but stated his "practice would have been to create one unless [trial counsel] requested [he] do otherwise." (Id., ¶ 8.) According to Dr. Beaver, had a formal evaluation been created, it would have contained the following opinions and conclusions:

- Mr. Ciccone's MMPI testing results showed a markedly elevated profile indicating significant emotional and/or psychiatric issues;
- b. Mr. Ciccone's psychiatric history revealed significant mood instability;
- c. Mr. Ciccone's family history revealed a significant history of bipolar disorders;
- d. There was a significant mental-health component related to the events surrounding the death of Mr. Ciccone's wife and unborn child[.]

(Id., ¶ 9.) Dr. Beaver had "no independent recollection of informing [trial counsel] of the opinions and conclusions described above" but stated it would have been his practice at the time "to inform trial counsel of these opinions and conclusions." (Id., ¶ 10.) Finally, as it relates to the claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not obtaining and presenting a written report of Dr. Beaver's psychological evaluation for use at sentencing, Dr. Beaver opined that such report, had it been created, "would have assisted the Court in determining Mr. Ciccone's sentence and, in fact, may very well have led the Court to a sentence other than fixed-life." (Id., ¶ 11.)

After Ciccone rested, the state called trial counsel, who testified regarding his reasons for not obtaining and submitting a written report of Dr. Beaver's psychological evaluation for use at sentencing. (Tr., p.55, L.1 – p.67, L.24.) Trial counsel testified he received a "verbal report" from Dr. Beaver, during which trial counsel took notes and after which trial counsel conducted his own research regarding one of Dr. Beaver's diagnoses. (Tr., p.57, L.18 – p.59, L.12; Respondent's Exhibit 13 (trial counsel's notes and research).) Following their discussion, trial counsel directed Dr. Beaver not to produce a formal written report because counsel did not believe such report would be in Ciccone's best interest. (Tr., p.59, Ls.13-22.) When asked why that was so, trial counsel, referring to his notes, explained:

The discussions I had with Dr. Beaver were over the phone; they were not in-person as my notes reflect. Mr. Ciccone did suffer from major depression; it was recurrent. But Dr. Beaver also diagnosed Mr. Ciccone with borderline personality disorder. And if you see him — in reference to line 4, it says "first wife." Dr. Beaver had done the home study in my divorce from my ex-wife, and his

comment to me was, "Terry, he's just like your first wife, remember?" And that's why I wrote "first wife." And she was a borderline personality disorder. So it really hit home to me, and that's why I put "controlling and abusive."

He also indicated, line 5, that Mr. Ciccone was in deep denial of his culpability. Line 6 I talked about – because I was using him for sentencing, if you look at page 1 of the order re: Evaluation, the last line says that the sentencing evaluation be done prior to sentencing. So what we were concerned about, and given the factors the Court has to consider as to the safety of the community, I asked Dr. Beaver if he would kill again. And Dr. Beaver's response was, "I don't know. It's context specific. And by the time they get to their 40s, they're usually more mature and less violent."

So with that [in] mind, that information, I didn't want Dr. Beaver's report for the sentencing judge to hear that.

(Tr., p.63, L.6 – p.64, L.10.) Trial counsel testified he was also concerned that, if he obtained a written report of Dr. Beaver's psychological evaluation, the state could request that Ciccone be evaluated by its own expert who, at the time, the defense bar referred to as "Dr. Death because nothing he said as a psychologist or mental doctor assisted our clients in any way." (Tr., p.64, L.15 – p.66, L.5.)

In addition to trial counsel's testimony, the state also presented a number of documentary exhibits, including the victim impact letters submitted at sentencing (Respondent's Exhibit 2); character letters offered by the defense at

 $^{^1}$ Trial counsel also testified he had reviewed Dr. Beaver's affidavit and did not see in that affidavit any reference to or diagnosis of borderline personality disorder. (Tr., p.66, L.10 – p.67, L.18.) Trial counsel explained that his professional relationship with Dr. Beaver had recently deteriorated due to a personal matter and, while counsel did not believe Dr. Beaver's affidavit was in any way influenced by the "falling-out," he did believe Dr. Beaver's interpretation of his own notes was not consistent with the notes trial counsel made contemporaneously with their discussion in 2005. (Tr., p.67, Ls.19-24, p.78, L.20 – p.80, L.2.)

sentencing, many of which referred to Ciccone's personal and family history of mental health issues (Respondent's Exhibit 3); the sentencing hearing transcript (Respondent's Exhibit 4); Ciccone's military records (Respondent's Exhibit 14); and the records of Ciccone's treatment at Intermountain Hospital following his failed suicide attempt in September 2003, in which the examining psychologist diagnosed Ciccone with major depression but opined "at discharge (less than two weeks before the death of Mr. Ciccone's wife) that [Ciccone] 'was not felt to be a threat to himself or others and had no suicidal or homicidal ideation'" (R., p.171 (citing Respondent's Exhibit 15)). The latter two items were appended to the PSI in the underlying criminal case. (Tr., p.84, Ls.8-12; R., p.176.)

Following the evidentiary hearing, the district court applied the relevant legal standards to the evidence before it and correctly concluded Ciccone failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. (R., pp.175-79.) Specifically, the court found:

The evidence at hearing has established that Petitioner's counsel made a strategic and tactical decision not to have a written psychological evaluation prepared and submitted at sentencing. At sentencing, in addition to the mental health records indicating that the Petitioner was not a danger to himself or others approximately ten days before the Petitioner ran over his wife, the court also had Petitioner's military records showing above average military performance of the [Petitioner] with exemplary on and off duty conduct as recently as January 20, 2003. (Ex. 14). Defense counsel had presented letters of the family describing a family history of mental illness and many character letters describing the Petitioner's good character. Trial defense counsel testified he was aware of the results of Dr. Beaver's evaluation and had even done research about Dr. Beaver's conclusions. Trial defense counsel described his rationale for his decision, including the strategy of not presenting a new written psychological evaluation to preclude the

State from requesting an additional evaluation of the Defendant – which counsel, based on his experience and expertise, did not feel would be favorable toward the Defendant.

Dr. Beaver opined nine years later that he felt his diagnosis and findings related to mood instability and a markedly elevated profile indicating significant emotional and/or psychiatric issues would have assisted the Court in determining Mr. Ciccone's sentence, and in fact, may very well have lessened the sentence the court gave. But the trial defense counsel explained his assessment of the evaluation nine years ago, had notes made contemporaneously supporting that assessment, and described a reasonable strategy related to the assessment of why, in his training and experience, Judge Wetherell would have differed from Dr. Beaver's opinion.

(R., pp.177-78; see also R., p.178 (finding, in light of trial counsel's testimony and the favorable mental health evidence that was before the sentencing court, that trial counsel's decision not to produce the report was a "reasonable strategic or tactical decision" and "was not due to inadequate preparation, ignorance of the relevant law or other shortcomings capable of objective review").) The court also found Ciccone failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice, reasoning:

[I]n an objective review of the complete record before the court at sentencing, the attorney's conduct did not prejudice [Ciccone] at sentencing, would not have changed the outcome of the sentence, and in fact, presented a more favorable defense for [Ciccone] even with the risk of a countervailing report by a psychologist for the State.

(R., p.179.)

On appeal, Ciccone contends the district court erred in denying relief as to this claim, arguing the evidence showed that trial counsel's "decision to not submit a report from Dr. Beaver [was] based upon both factual and legal errors," and "the deficiency was prejudicial because there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's deficiency the outcome of the proceedings would have been

different." (Appellant's brief, p.5 (citation omitted).) Neither of these arguments withstands analysis.

Ciccone claims that, in making his decision to not obtain and submit a written report of Dr. Beaver's psychological evaluation, trial counsel mistakenly believed that "a diagnosis of borderline personality disorder meant that Mr. Ciccone is controlling and abusive." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) As evidence that counsel was mistaken, Ciccone points to counsel's research on borderline personality disorder (submitted at the evidentiary hearing as part of Respondent's Exhibit 13), which, he claims, "does not reference controlling or abusive behavior." (Appellant's brief, p.6.) Even a cursory review of counsel's research shows, however, that it is Ciccone who is mistaken. While the research article counsel relied upon does not explicitly use the words "controlling" and "abusive," it clearly states that individuals with borderline personality disorder often exhibit "low anxiety tolerance," "poor impulse control," "chaotic" and "extreme relationships with others," "frequent expressions of anger," "stormy relationships," "manipulativeness," "masochism/sadism," "demandingness," "entitlement," and "[a]nger that is inappropriate, intense or uncontrollable." (Respondent's Exhibit 13, pp.3-8 (article entitled "Borderline Personality Disorder").) All of these traits are consistent with counsel's notes, made during his discussion with Dr. Beaver, that Ciccone specifically is or that individuals with borderline personality disorder generally are "controlling" and "abusive." (Id., p.1.) Even if not equivalent to "controlling" and "abusive," the diagnosis is at the very least unfavorable. Ciccone failed to prove it was objectively unreasonable

for counsel, after discussing Ciccone's diagnosis with Dr. Beaver and conducting his own research that showed individuals with borderline personality disorder exhibit a number of unflattering traits, to forego obtaining a written report that would have reflected negatively on Ciccone's character.² This is especially true in light of the fact that it is clear from trial counsel's testimony and written notes that his decision to not obtain and submit a written evaluation rested not only on the fact that Dr. Beaver had diagnosed Ciccone with borderline personality disorder, but also on that fact that Dr. Beaver opined Ciccone was "in deep denial of his culpability." (Tr., p.63, Ls.20-21; Respondent's Exhibit 13, p.1.)

Ciccone also claims trial counsel's decision to forego a written evaluation was objectively unreasonable because it was based on two mistakes of law. The first mistake, Ciccone argues, "was that any written report would even have to include a diagnosis." (Appellant's brief, p.7.) Ciccone posits that, because I.C. § 19-2522(3)(b) requires "[a] diagnosis, evaluation *or* prognosis of the mental condition of the defendant" (emphasis added), counsel could have asked Dr. Beaver to produce a written "evaluation of Mr. Ciccone's mental health situation and his prognosis without including the term 'borderline personality disorder'" (Appellant's brief, pp.7-8). Ciccone apparently believes that, to be effective,

² In a further attempt to demonstrate that trial counsel was mistaken in his belief that individuals with borderline personality disorder are "controlling" and "abusive," Ciccone relies on the "National Institute of Mental Health's webpage discussing this disorder." (Appellant's brief, pp.6-7 (footnote omitted).) Ciccone did not proffer this webpage as evidence below, however. His attempt on appeal to prove the deficient performance prong of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim by presenting evidence that was never offered or considered below is improper, and the new evidence he cites must be disregarded. Nelson v. Nelson, 144 Idaho 710, 714, 170 P.3d 375, 379 (2007).

counsel was required to obtain and submit to the sentencing court a written psychological evaluation that was, at best, incomplete and, at worst, misleading. Unsurprisingly, Ciccone cites no authority for the proposition that it is objectively unreasonable for trial counsel to forego a written report rather than present a report full of half-truths and incomplete information. Nor does he cite any evidence indicating Dr. Beaver would have conspired to present a misleading or incomplete report. Even assuming trial counsel had the option of ethically employing the latter strategy and could have secured Dr. Beaver's cooperation, a decision to not do so would not have been objectively unreasonable; as explained by defense counsel at the evidentiary hearing (Tr., p.65, Ls.12-24.), the state, after reviewing the written report, could have sought its own expert to evaluate and report on Ciccone's mental condition, thereby exposing any flaws and/or omissions in the report prepared by Dr. Beaver.

Ciccone argues otherwise, contending the second mistake of law trial counsel made was believing "that any presentation of a written report would result in the District Court authorizing a second evaluation from" the state's expert. (Appellant's brief, p.8.) This argument fails for two reasons. First, it is based on a faulty premise. Trial counsel did not testify that producing a written report "would result in" the authorization of a second evaluation. Rather, he testified only that the prosecutor "could have moved to have Mr. Ciccone evaluated by his own expert" (Tr., p.65, Ls.14-15), a proposition of law with which Ciccone agrees on appeal (see Appellant's brief, p.8). Second, and more importantly, Ciccone's assertion that "there is no statutory provision allowing a

second evaluation simply because the state wishes to dispute the original court appointed expert's conclusions" is false. Idaho Code § 18-207(4)(c) expressly provides that evidence of a defendant's mental condition is "subject to the adversarial process" and that:

Raising an issue of mental condition in a criminal proceeding shall constitute a waiver of any privilege that might otherwise be interposed to bar the production of evidence on the subject and, upon request, the court shall order that the state's experts shall have access to the defendant in such cases for the purpose of having its own experts conduct an examination in preparation for any legal proceeding at which the defendant's mental condition may be in issue.

I.C. § 18-207(4)(c). Because this statute requires a court, upon request, to authorize a second evaluation by the state's expert, it is clearly Ciccone, not trial counsel, who is laboring under a misapprehension of the law.

Ciccone did not demonstrate below, and he has not demonstrated on appeal, any objective shortcoming in trial counsel's strategic decision to forego a written evaluation, in part, to avoid the risk of exposing Ciccone to an evaluation by an expert who, at the time, the defense bar referred to as "Dr. Death." Citing Estrada v. State, 143 Idaho 558, 564, 149 P.3d 833, 839 (2006), Ciccone argues, that "[e]ven assuming trial counsel's worse [sic] fears regarding the appointment of 'Dr. Death' came true, Mr. Ciccone could not have been made to participate in that evaluation. He simply could have refused to speak to [the state's expert] and the doctor would not have been able to conduct a second evaluation." (Appellant's brief, p.8.) This argument is without merit. While Estrada makes clear that a defendant enjoys a Fifth Amendment right to not participate in certain presentence evaluations, nothing in the Estrada opinion

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